
Hon Michael Wood 

Minister of Transport 

Minister for Workplace Relations and Safety 

24 September 2021 

Sue McCormack 
Acting Chair 
KiwiRail 
PO Box 593 
WELLINGTON 6140 

Dear Sue 

Thank you for your cooperative work with Waka Kotahi the NZ Transport Agency the Ministry 
of Transport and the Treasury to provide me advice on the ongoing delivery on the NZ Upgrade 
Programme (the Programme). You have made a great deal of progress in bringing the 
Programme to life. There is much work to do and the efforts made now to establish a clear set 
of expectations will facilitate delivery of the Programme. 

This letter sets out that the Minister of Finance and I (as Joint Ministers) agree to delegate 
individual project level decisions to the KiwiRail Board for their projects listed in Table 1 below. 
These delegations aim to provide Waka Kotahi and KiwiRail (referred to collectively as 
‘Delivery Agencies’) Boards with the flexibility to utilise existing capabilities to deliver projects 
while recognising the Crown’s role as funder and over-arching owner of the Programme, and 
the reporting requirements that apply. 

While I have set the expectations that we have of the KiwiRail Board, Joint Ministers retain the 
right to review, amend or revoke the delegations and conditions at any time. For the absence 
of doubt, the Crown remains the funder and owner of the Programme and any change to 
delegations will not change the Crown’s responsibility to reimburse KiwiRail for project spend 
and commitments reasonably incurred. This letter updates my previous delegations and 
expectations on the Programme.   

My expectations set out in this letter are drawn from and align with the information agreed by 
Cabinet (reference CAB-21-MIN-0374.01). 

I place a high level of reliance on KiwiRail’s internal monitoring and assurance processes to 
escalate risks and issues to me. I therefore hold the KiwiRail Board directly accountable to 
provide Programme Assurance to Joint Ministers. You are to provide comprehensive 
assurance and a high level of accountability and transparency to me on the Programme. I 
request that you reply to me in a letter to confirm that you can meet these expectations.  

To maintain a balance of delivery momentum and assurance for the Crown on key risk factors, 
I have agreed on a risk-based management approach to the Programme. Depending on the 
risk level, Joint Ministers are to be provided with a project baseline containing deliverables for 
each project. This has been achieved previously through provision of the Establishment 



Reports and Baseline reports. Table 1 lists the project baseline that I request for each project 
and when it is due. 

In your reply to this letter, please confirm that you are able to provide me with the project 
baseline by the date shown in the table or otherwise advise of the appropriate date. Project 
baselines should include your assessment of escalation thresholds for possible changes to 
scope. I have asked the Ministry of Transport to provide me with advice on project baselines, 
as outlined in this letter. 

Delegations 

Joint Ministers will retain decision-making rights at key points in higher risk and rescoped 

project lifecycles – specifically at Detailed Business Case (DBC) stage (for projects still in this 

phase) and/or the Implementation Business Case (ImBC) stage (i.e. where the project has 

progressed beyond the DBC phase, with the next major decision point being construction 

contract award).  

This both enables Delivery Agencies to complete business cases that are fit for purpose for a 

particular project stage (i.e. not revisiting decisions already made), and ensure proposed 

projects are consistent with Joint Ministers’ expectations on outcomes, scope, benefits, cost, 

and schedule or that any substantive variations are clearly acknowledged. 

For lower risk projects, as shown in Table 1 all amounts under the column heading “Delivery 

Agency allocation” will be appropriated, for delegated management of underspends and be 

available for forecast overspends for lower risk projects in a prudent and transparent manner, 

consistent with the escalation thresholds discussed below. Contracts of any value may be 

awarded, noting that I seek a briefing prior to awarding contracts over $100 million for Melling 

and Drury. If a contract award would result in the project budget exceeding its Estimate at 

Completion (EAC), Joint Ministers’ agreement is to be sought prior to contract award in line 

with the cost escalation threshold. 

For higher risk and rescoped projects, Joint Ministers’ Tagged Contingency (refer Table 1) is 

held centrally under Crown control. Appropriation of tagged contingency will be managed by 

Joint Ministers with advice from KiwiRail, the Ministry of Transport and the Treasury. Business 

cases require joint Ministers’ approval to access this contingency. Business cases should 

follow the Treasury’s Better Business Case guidance and be supported by an Assurance Plan, 

Project Management Plan, and Quantitative Risk Analysis. In the case of South Auckland 

projects and Active mode and public transport investments projects that support transit-

oriented development, I expect Waka Kotahi to engage with the Ministry of Housing and Urban 

Development to enable the Minister of Housing and Urban Development to engage in effective 

and reasonable consultation regarding housing priorities. 

Cabinet set Joint Ministers’ tagged contingency aside to progress route protection for Takitimu 

North Link Stage 2. This should be considered separately from the above arrangements. 

Construction of this project has been removed from the Programme and the level of 

investment for route protection means it now better fits the lower risk category, and therefore 

operates under those conditions. 






















